12/16/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0512

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0512

MICHAEL L. GOGUEN,

Plaintiff, Appellee, and Cross-Appellant,

v.

NYP HOLDINGS, INC.; ISABEL VINCENT, Defendants and Appellants,

WILLIAM DIAL,

Defendant and Cross-Appellee

Appeal From Montana Eleventh Judicial District Flathead County, DV-21-1382(A) Honorable Amy Eddy

OPENING BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS NYP HOLDINGS, INC., AND ISABEL VINCENT

Matt J. Kelly Amy McNulty TARLOW STONECIPHER WEAMER & KELLY, PLLC 1705 West College St. Bozeman, MT 59715-4913 Telephone: (406) 586-9714 Facsimile: (406) 586-9720

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the District Court err in determining that Montana law, not New York law, governs the privilege applicable to fair and true reports of judicial proceedings published by a New York newspaper?
- 2. If New York's fair report privilege does apply, should the Complaint be dismissed on the ground that the challenged statements are absolutely privileged as a matter of law under N.Y. Civ. Rights Law § 74?
- 3. If Montana's fair report privilege applies, did the Court err by finding that it could not determine as a matter of law that the Post Article is a fair and true report published without malice, when there is no dispute as to the content of the underlying judicial proceedings, and this Court's holding in *Lence v. Hagadone* dictates that the protection afforded by § 27-1-804(4), MCA, cannot be overcome by a media defendant's failure to independently investigate, or obtain comment from the plaintiff?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal presents a straightforward application of a well-established rule: the media cannot be held liable for accurate reporting about judicial proceedings. Michael Goguen ("Goguen") alleges in his Complaint that he was defamed by a *New York Post* article titled, "*Tech billionaire allegedly kept spreadsheet of 5,000 women he had sex with*" (the "Post Article"). The Post Article accurately describes allegations made against Goguen in two civil lawsuits, including that Goguen plotted to kill rivals, subjected a former girlfriend to years of abuse, and leveraged his vast wealth to control

local law enforcement and destroy his enemies. None of these allegations are adopted as true by the Post Article, and every statement is attributed directly to court papers (including the headline), accompanied by reporting casting doubt on the credibility of Goguen's accusers.

Pursuant to M.. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), Defendants NYP Holdings, Inc., and its reporter, Isabel Vincent (together, the "Post") moved to dismiss on the following grounds: (i) that Montana's choice of law rules require application of New York's fair report privilege; (ii) that since the Post Article is – as a matter of law – a fair and accurate report of allegations made in lawsuits, it is absolutely privileged under New York's fair report privilege; and (iii) that Goguen's claim is also barred by Montana's fair report privilege because the Post Article is – as a matter of law – "a fair and true report without malice of a judicial [proceeding]." § 27-1-804(4), MCA.

The District Court denied the Post's motion. Appendix ("Order"). *First*, the District Court found (without any analysis) that Montana law governs application of the fair report privilege in this case. *Id.* at 14. In its decision, the District Court stated incorrectly that "the Post agreed at oral argument that Montana law should apply to this analysis, as there was not an actual conflict between Montana and New York law." *Id.*

¹ The Post also moved for dismissal on the ground that published comments made by Defendant-Cross Appellee William Dial ("Dial") (including that Goguen "has to be stopped," is "a billionaire a la Harvey Weinstein and [Jeffrey] Epstein," and "people in this community [are] afraid of him,") are protected opinion. Dial filed a separate motion to dismiss, which was properly granted by the District Court. Goguen has filed a crossappeal on that issue, which the Post opposes.

at 14. To the contrary, the Post established a clear conflict between New York's absolute privilege and Montana's qualified privilege and argued that Montana's choice of law rules require application of New York law on this question. Supplemental Appendix ("SA") Ex. 13 at 46:10-48:17, 49:1-49:14, 71:22-72:24, 75:2-10.

Second, the District Court held that while § 27-1-804(4), MCA applies preliminarily to 13 of the statements challenged in the Complaint, "the legal determination as to whether the fair report privilege applies" must await a jury's determination. Order at 17-18. The District Court found that the remaining statements (Nos. 10, 13 and 14) were not based on any judicial proceeding. *Id.* at 18.

The District Court further held that Goguen alleged malice sufficiently, including because he alleged that the Post failed to independently investigate the allegations reported in the Article. *Id.* at 18. The District Court did not acknowledge much less attempt to distinguish this Court's decision in *Lence v. Hagadone Inv. Co.*, which applied § 27-1-804(4), MCA as a matter of law, notwithstanding the newspaper defendant's failure to independently investigate allegations made in a lawsuit or obtain comment from the plaintiff. 258 Mont. 433, 438, 443, 853 P.2d 1230, 1233, 1237 (1993) *overruled on unrelated grounds by Sacco v. High Country Ind. Press*,271 Mont. 209, 896 P.2d 411 (1995).

The District Court certified its Order as final pursuant to M. R. Civ. P. 54(b), and on September 20, 2022, this Court found the certification to be in compliance with M. R. App. P. 6(6). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Parties

Defendant NYP Holdings, Inc., publishes the *New York Post*. SA-1 ¶ 15. The Post's headquarters and principal place of business is in New York. *Id.* Defendant Isabel Vincent, who wrote the Post Article, is a resident of New York. *Id.* ¶ 16. Goguen alleges that he resides in Flathead County, Montana. *Id.* ¶ 14. Dial is the former Chief of Police in Whitefish, Montana. *Id.* ¶ 1.

B. The Amber Baptiste Lawsuit

In 2016, Goguen's former mistress, Amber Baptiste, sued him in California Superior Court for allegedly breaching the payment terms of a \$40 million nondisclosure agreement (the "Baptiste Lawsuit"). *Id.* ¶ 28, SA-7. Baptiste alleged that Goguen "abused [her] sexually, physically and emotionally for over 13 years." SA-7 ¶ 1.² After "Baptiste willfully disobeyed numerous discovery orders, . . . the Court dismissed her breach of contract claim with prejudice" and proceeded to trial – without a jury – solely on Goguen's cross-complaint. SA-6 at 2:11-13. Baptiste failed to appear for trial and was not otherwise represented. *Id.* at 2:12-17. The court ruled in favor of Goguen, ordered Baptiste to pay \$14 million in damages, and restrained her from repeating her allegations. *Id.* at 2:22-26; 38:20-40:18; SA-5.

² On a motion to dismiss, the Court may consider documents that are incorporated by reference into the Complaint. *Sagorin v. Sunrise Heating & Cooling, LLC*, 2022 MT 58, ¶ 10, 408 Mont. 119, 506 P.3d 1028.

C. The Matthew Marshall Lawsuit

On February 12, 2021, Matthew Marshall, a former employee of Goguen, and three other former employees filed a civil lawsuit against Goguen in the U.S. District Court of Montana (the "Marshall Lawsuit"). SA-1 ¶ 31. The Amended Complaint in that action, filed on September 21, 2021, alleged that Goguen engaged "in a nefarious racketeering Scheme involving prolific sexual and criminal misconduct." SA-8 ("Marshall Complaint") ¶¶ 5, 535-940.

At the time the Marshall Lawsuit was filed, Marshall was under federal indictment for actions arising from his business dealings with Goguen. SA-1 ¶¶ 30-31. On November 19, 2021, Marshall pleaded guilty to wire fraud, money laundering and tax evasion. *Id.* \P 30.³

D. The New York Post Article

The Post Article was published online on November 20, 2021, and in the Post's print edition on November 21, 2021.⁴ SA-1¶1, SA-2-3. The District Court identified the following challenged statements from the Post Article, which are relevant on this

³ On March 3, 2022, months after the Post Article was published, Marshall was sentenced to 72 months in custody. The Marshall Lawsuit was subsequently dismissed "for its prolixity," and its failure to state a RICO claim. *Marshall v. Goguen*, No. Cv 21-19-M-DWM, 2022 WL 1641776, at *1 (D. Mont. May 24, 2022).

⁴ The headline in the print edition was, "'He's Like Weinstein or Epstein' A civil complaint alleges billionaire kept harem, had sex with 5,000 women and planned murder in small town." SA-2 (emphasis added).

appeal:5

- 1. Goguen "transformed" Whitefish, Montana, into "his private fiefdom" and "a dark banana republic."
- 2. Goguen "allegedly controls local law enforcement."
- 3. Goguen "has a spreadsheet documenting his sexual encounters with 5,000 women."
- 4. Goguen "outfitted a local bar he owns with a 'boom boom room' used 'to maintain women for the purpose of committing illicit sexual activity."
- 5. Plaintiff "could not obtain a security clearance . . . because of the allegations of sexual abuse, court papers allege."
- 6. "Women [] tried to complain to police about Goguen's alleged sexual assaults . . . according to court papers."
- 7. Members of the Flathead County Sherriff's Department were "on Goguen's payroll, according to court papers."
- 8. Pam Doe "told a local police officer that Goguen had allegedly sexually assaulted her."
- 9. "Pam Doe later recanted her story with police after signing a non-disparagement agreement with Goguen."
- 10. "Threats to publicize unsubstantiated incidents of sexual impropriety unnerved [] Goguen and other Valley luminaries, according to a federal indictment."
- 11. "Mistress Amber Baptiste . . . accused [Goguen] of 'constant sexual abuse,' including 'countless hours of forced sodomy,' court papers say. He also demanded that she refer to him as 'king' and 'emperor.'"
- 12. "Baptiste said, she underwent surgery for a ruptured anal canal after Goguen 'forcibly sodomized her and left her bleeding

⁵ For the convenience of the Court, a comparison of statements in the Post Article with relevant allegations in the Baptiste and Marshall Lawsuits is provided as Ex. 16 to the Supplemental Appendix.

- and alone on the floor of a hotel room in a foreign country,' court papers claimed."
- 13. Goguen "secur[ed] a restraining order against Baptiste from filing any similar suits against him."
- 14. Goguen "filed a counter-claim" against Baptiste.
- 15. "Goguen ... falsely told the FBI that Marshall did not have the requisite experience, had stolen and then laundered funds from Goguen . . . court papers allege."
- 16. "But according to the civil complaint, Marshall spent the cash on Goguen's orders and was not reimbursed by Goguen."

Order at 7-14 (citing SA-1 ¶ 33).⁶ The Post Article further states that "person after person has apparently tried to take [Goguen] down — only to end up taken down themselves." SA-2-3. For example, it states that Goguen's former friend, Bryan Nash — who accused Goguen of being a pedophile — "pleaded guilty to blackmailing Goguen, and was later sentenced to five years of probation." *Id.* It also states that Marshall "accepted a plea agreement in federal court in Montana for wire fraud, tax evasion and conning Goguen out of millions of dollars." *Id.* The underlined words are hyperlinked to an article in the *Flathead Beacon* titled, "Whitefish Security CEO Pleads Guilty to Federal Crimes in Scheme to Defraud Billionaire Goguen," which, in turn, includes a hyperlink to another *Flathead Beacon* article titled, "Justice Department Watchdog

⁶ Exhibit 16 to the Supplemental Appendix includes four additional statements challenged in the Complaint that are substantially accurate reports of the Marshall Complaint. SA-16 (Stmts. A-D).

⁷ https://flatheadbeacon.com/2021/11/10/whitefish-security-ceo-pleads-guilty-to-federal-crimes-in-scheme-to-defraud-billionaire-goguen/ (last visited Jan. 2, 2022).

Levels Misconduct Charges Against Former Whitefish Police Chief," stating that Dial was under investigation for (among other things) allegedly "colluding with Marshall to entrap a fellow Whitefish police officer." SA-3. The Post Article also describes Baptiste's allegations as "unproven" and "unsubstantiated" and notes that Goguen prevailed in his countersuit against her. SA-2-3.

As noted in the Post Article, Goguen's lawyer did not return Vincent's request for comment. SA-1 ¶ 47.

E. The Second New York Post Article

On November 21, 2021, the day after the Post Article appeared online, Goguen posted a statement on Twitter, vehemently denying the allegations reported in the Post Article. SA-9. Just a few hours later, the Post published a second article based on Goguen's Tweet, titled, "*Tech billionaire Michael Goguen fires back at bombshell allegations*" (the "Second Article"). SA-10. The Second Article (which was published before the Post received any communication from Goguen's lawyers) states that Goguen issued a "scathing rebuke" of the allegations reported by the Post, and quoted from his Tweet at length. *Id*.

F. The New York Post's Clarifications to the Post Article

On November 21, 2021, Goguen's counsel sent a demand letter to the Post. SA-1 ¶ 3, SA-4. The Post responded on November 24, 2021, explaining that all of the

⁸ https://flatheadbeacon.com/2021/08/26/justice-department-watchdog-levels-misconduct-charges-against-former-whitefish-police-chief/ (last visited Jan. 2, 2022).

statements in the Post Article are either privileged or protected opinion. SA-11. Nevertheless, the Post agreed to exercise its editorial discretion to clarify two points: the Post revised its description of the Baptiste Lawsuit to clarify that "the state court found all of Baptiste's allegations to be 'false and defamatory," that she was found "liable for extortion and fraud," and that she was "ordered to pay Goguen roughly \$14 million in damages." SA-1 ¶¶ 33(j), (n); SA-11-12. The Post also corrected an error in a photo caption, clarifying that the allegations against Goguen were made in a civil suit, not an "indictment" (which was already clear since the Article refers *five times* to the allegations stemming from a civil suit). *Id*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews *de novo* a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss under M. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). *Powell v. Salvation Army*, 287 Mont. 99, 102, 951 P.2d 1352, 1354 (1997). "A claim is subject to dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) if it . . . fails to state sufficient facts that, if true, would entitle the claimant to relief under the claim." *In re Estate of Swanberg*, 2020 MT 153, ¶ 6, 400 Mont. 247, 465 P.3d 1165. "[T]he complaint must state something more than facts which, at most, would breed only a suspicion that the claimant may be entitled to relief." *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Post Article is privileged as a matter of law. Every single sentence in the article is a substantially accurate description of allegations made in the Marshall and Baptiste Lawsuits, and is directly attributed to the court papers. The Article is also fair:

no reasonable reader could believe that the Post adopted the allegations as true, particularly since the Article attributes all of the statements to court papers, highlights the credibility issues that have "taken down" each of Goguen's accusers, and expressly characterizes Baptiste's allegations as "unproven" and "unsubstantiated." Such reports are protected by the First Amendment and the Montana Constitution. *See Cox Broad. Corp. v. Cohn*, 420 U.S. 469, 492, 95 S.Ct. 1029, 1044-45 (1975) ("With respect to judicial proceedings in particular, the function of the press serves to guarantee the fairness of trials and to bring to bear the beneficial effects of public scrutiny upon the administration of justice."); *Cox v. Lee Enters., Inc.*, 222 Mont. 527, 529-30, 723 P.2d 238, 240 (1986) ("The right to inspect public documents and be fully informed of their contents finds strong expression in our state constitution.") (citing Mont. Const. art. II, § 9, guaranteeing right to examine public documents).

The District Court's decision departs sharply from this Court's precedents and, if left in place, would impose substantial, new burdens on the media's ability to report on judicial proceedings. *First*, even if Montana law controls Goguen's underlying defamation claim (an issue not contested on this appeal), Montana's choice of law rules compel application of New York's fair report privilege. A true conflict exists between Montana's qualified fair report privilege, which is lost upon a showing of malice, and the privilege recognized by N.Y. Civ. Rights Law § 74, which is absolute and unqualified. Under Montana law, the law of the state of injury will not control if, "with respect to a particular issue, a different state has a more significant relationship."

Phillips v. Gen. Motors Corp., 2000 MT 55, ¶ 32, 298 Mont. 438, 995 P.2d 1002.. Since the fair report privilege is designed to protect speakers, not to provide a remedy to plaintiffs, courts outside of New York routinely find that New York has the most significant interest in governing the privilege afforded to New York publishers. This makes sense: Relying on the privilege law of a publisher's domicile promotes certainty and predictability for journalists who might otherwise be faced with the daunting challenge of having to research the privilege laws of multiple states before publishing a single report about a lawsuit. The fair report privilege protects the press from this burden and the chilling effect it would have on the reporting of judicial proceedings.

Second, under New York's fair report privilege, N.Y. Civ. Rights Law § 74, fair and true reports of judicial proceedings are *absolutely privileged*, regardless of whether the defendant acted with malice. Since each of the challenged statements accurately describes allegations made in the Marshall and Baptiste Complaints, and the Post Article details the credibility issues affecting Goguen's accusers, Goguen's claim is precluded as a matter of law pursuant to N.Y. Civ. Rights Law § 74.

Third, even if New York law were not applicable, the Post Article is also squarely protected by Montana's fair report privilege, § 27-1-804(4), MCA, and the Complaint should have been dismissed as a matter of law on that basis under Rule 12(b)(6). *See Lence*, 258 Mont. at 443, 853 P.2d at 1237 (holding that applicability of § 27-1-804(4), MCA is a question of law when there is no dispute as to the content of the underlying proceedings) (citing *Rasmussen v. Bennett*, 228 Mont. 106, 110, 741 P.2d 755, 758

(1987). Even though the Montana privilege is qualified and can be defeated by a showing that the defendant acted maliciously, nothing in the Complaint, and no set of facts, could provide a basis for showing that the Post published the Article with malice. As this Court has already held on remarkably similar facts, § 27-1-804(4), MCA applies as a matter of law to substantially accurate reports of judicial proceedings, even where the media defendant fails to independently investigate the reported allegations, and even when it does not give the plaintiff an opportunity to comment. *Lence*, 258 Mont. at 438, 443, 853 P.2d at 1233, 1237 (affirming summary judgment). This is particularly true where (as here) the defendant publishes a second article focused on the plaintiff's objections. *Id.*, 258 Mont. at 437, 853 P.2d at 1233.

The District Court's decision is squarely at odds with *Lence* and if left in place will significantly impair reporting on court proceedings involving Montana litigants. As just one example, the Marshall Complaint, which was dismissed in part for its "prolixity," is 236-pages long and contains more than 950 paragraphs of allegations. As a practical matter, a daily newspaper cannot be expected to independently investigate each of those allegations before reporting on them, and the whole point of the fair report privilege is to protect against this. *Reuber v. Food Chem. News, Inc.*, 925 F.2d 703, 717 (4th Cir. 1991) ("[T]he reality of the newsgathering process counsels against requiring the press to guarantee that every allegation on the part of a public disputant is correct.").

Since there is no set of facts that would entitle Goguen to relief, the District Court's Order should be reversed, and the Complaint should be dismissed with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. MONTANA'S CHOICE OF LAW RULES REQUIRE APPLICATION OF NEW YORK'S FAIR REPORT PRIVILEGE

When there is an actual conflict between the laws of potentially interested states, Montana's choice of law rules require a "careful, step-by-step" analysis to evaluate the competing policy interests at stake. *Mitchell v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 2003 MT 102, ¶ 17, 315 Mont. 281, 68 P.3d 703. Though there is an initial presumption in favor of the law of the state where the plaintiff is injured, that presumption is overcome if, "with respect to the particular issue, a different state has a more significant relationship." *Phillips*, ¶ 32.

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