02/14/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0512

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0512

MICHAEL L. GOGUEN, Plaintiff, Appellee, and Cross-Appellant,

V.

NYP HOLDINGS, INC.; ISABEL VINCENT, Defendants and Appellants,

WILLIAM DIAL,

Defendant and Cross-Appellee

Appeal From Montana Eleventh Judicial District Flathead County, DV-21-1382(A) Honorable Amy Eddy

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT'S COMBINED RESPONSE BRIEF AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF CROSS APPEAL

APPEARANCES:

Reid J. Perkins WORDEN THANE P.C. 321 W. Broadway St., Ste. 300 Missoula, Montana 59802-4142 (406) 721-3400 rperkins@wordenthane.com

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

Summary of Argument

The District Court correctly concluded that Montana law applies to this defamation claim, brought by a Montana citizen, in a Montana court, under a Montana statute, for an injury he suffered in Montana from an article concerning his role in his Montana community and judicial proceedings in California and Montana. Case law from this Court and New York's high court, basic choice-of-law principles, and Mont. Code Ann. § 27-1-801 *et seq.* foreclose the *Post*'s bid to project into Montana the laws of New York, where the *Post* has chosen to place its

headquarters. Contrary to the *Post*'s premise, New York cannot license the *Post* to defame citizens in other states.

The District Court was also correct that there are triable issues. The *Post* fails to connect many of its defamatory statements to any court proceeding. And under both Montana and New York law, whether any of the rest of the *Post*'s editorializing about disproven pleadings constitutes a "fair and true report" poses a question for the jury.

A jury trial is also required to decide whether the *Post* published its hit piece with malice. The defamation pleading standard does not "require the additional pleading of the supportive fact" beyond a general allegation of malice. *Gallagher v. Johnson*, 188 Mont. 117, 126, 611 P.2d 613, 618 (1980); *see also* Mont. R. Civ. P. 9(b). The *Post* misplaces reliance solely on this Court's analysis of a *negligence* action, as distinct from a defamation action and the law governing it.

The *Post* should also face liability for republishing Chief Dial's defamatory accusations. The dismissal of these comments is discussed in the cross-appeal but implicates the *Post*, which republished the attack and does not contend it is privileged. If the ruling as to these statements is reversed (as it should be), then the *Post* remains a defendant for that reason alone.

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE *POST*'S MOTION TO DISMISS

Montana Law Applies To All Aspects Of This Case

Montana applies "the 'most significant relationship' approach to determine the applicable substantive law for issues of tort." Phillips v. Gen. Motors Corp., 2000 MT 55, ¶ 23, 298 Mont. 438, 995 P.2d 1002. There is no dispute that Montana law presumptively applies. (See Br. at 13 (acknowledging "presumption") in favor of the law of the state where the plaintiff is injured").) The *Post* has never even argued that whether the Article is capable of defamatory meaning should be decided under New York law. (See id. at 14 n.9.)

The *Post* nonetheless asks this Court to reverse the choice-of-law ruling below, claiming incorrectly that the District Court reached that conclusion "without any analysis." (Br. at 2.) In fact, the District Court "adopt[ed] Goguen's analysis such that Montana law applies to all aspects of this case" (Order at 14), invoking Goguen's extensive briefing below.¹ The District Court was correct.

MICHAEL GOGUEN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

Montana law applies to all aspects of this case." (Order at 14.)

The *Post* faults the District Court (Br. at 2) for referencing the *Post*'s position at oral argument that, while "we've spent a lot of time – both sides – on this interesting choice of law question ... the Court need not even reach that." (PSA-4 at 39:11-16.) As the District Court made clear in its Order, however, it did not rely on this position to resolve any issue. Instead, "[t]o the extent the choice of law question need[ed] to be addressed, the Court adopt[ed] Goguen's analysis such that

1. Montana Choice-Of-Law Rules Call For The Application Of One State's Law To All Issues Of A Single Tort

The Court should reject the *Post*'s effort to split the overlapping issues of defamatory conduct and privilege, a principle known as *depecage*. This Court has never applied *depecage*. Instead, it has consistently applied just one state's tort law for all purposes. In this case, that state must be Montana.

Phillips illustrates the folly of the *Post*'s argument. There, this Court considered which state's law applied to claims brought by the representative of a Montana family against the Michigan company that manufactured the car the family had bought in North Carolina and accused of causing their deadly wreck in Kansas. *Phillips*, ¶¶ 7-10. That case presented myriad issues, including whether negligence or strict liability was the relevant test, whether regulatory compliance was a defense, whether a plaintiff's comparative negligence diminished his damages, whether any caps for noneconomic loss applied, and what punitive damages were available. See id. ¶¶ 39-66. But Phillips did not analyze the choiceof-law applicable to each issue separately. It conducted a single analysis, comparing the application of Montana law wholesale to Kansas law wholesale, and held that Montana choice of law requires "applying Montana product liability, defenses, damages, and wrongful death statutes to the facts of this case." *Id.* ¶ 73.

The *Post*'s reliance on *Phillips* is thus fatal to its request for *depecage*.

Phillips recognized that states' interests in different legal "issues" may vary.

Products liability policies reflect an interest in regulating conduct at the site of manufacture, comparative negligence policies reflect an interest in regulating conduct at the site of the accident, and caps on damages reflect an interest in insurance markets. *See id.* ¶¶ 39-66. But *Phillips* did not, for example, apply Michigan law to defective design claims, Kansas law to comparative negligence provisions, and Montana law to punitive damages. Rather, this Court held "that issues such as the tortious character of conduct, available defenses, contributory fault, and damages are all to be determined by applying the most significant relationship rule of § 145," and then conducted a single analysis to conclude, as to all issues in the case, that "the laws [plural] of Montana apply." *Id.* ¶¶ 30, 76.

Similarly, in *Buckles v. BH Flowtest, Inc.*, 2020 MT 291, ¶ 34, 402 Mont. 145, 476 P.3d 422, this Court again applied a unitary analysis to hold that one state's substantive law governed all questions of tort liability, defenses, and damages. Tort law is not divisible in the way the *Post* claims.

The *Post*'s brief does not identify any decision by any Montana court applying *depecage*. The closest it comes is *Otto v. Newfield Exploration Co.*, No. CV 15-66-BLG-SPW, 2016 WL 9461791 (D. Mont. July 26, 2016), an unpublished federal case that expressly *declined* to decide "if Montana law permits PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT 15 MICHAEL GOGUEN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

depecage" because doing so would "create 'a smorgasbord approach which inures only to the benefit of the party picking and choosing." *Id.* at *7 (quoting *Johnson v. Cont'l Airlines Corp.*, 964 F.2d 1059, 1064 (10th Cir. 1992)). This Court's choice-of-law precedent avoids that chaos.

Even the *Post*'s out-of-state cases (Br. at 13-14, 17-20) scarcely reference or apply depecage. Kinsey v. N.Y. Times Co., 991 F.3d 171, 178 (2d Cir. 2021), Nix v. ESPN, Inc., 772 F. App'x 807, 812 (11th Cir. 2019) (per curiam), Jacob v. Lorenz, No. 21 CIV. 6807, 2022 WL 4096701, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 7, 2022), Miller v. Gizmodo Media Grp., LLC, No. 18-24227-CIV, 2019 WL 1790248, at *6 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 24, 2019), Davis v. Costa-Gavras, 580 F. Supp. 1082, 1093 (S.D.N.Y. 1984), and *Edmiston v. Time*, *Inc.*, 257 F. Supp. 22, 24 (S.D.N.Y. 1966), each conducted a single choice-of-law analysis and applied *one* state's substantive defamation law *alongside* the privilege issue. The Seventh Circuit took a similar approach in Wilkow v. Forbes, Inc., 241 F.3d 552, 555 (7th Cir. 2001), resolving the appeal based on the state's substantive law defining defamation, without reaching any privilege or choice-of-law issues. ACT I, LLC v. Davis, 60 P.3d 145, 149 (Wyo. 2002), is even further afield, as it was about contracts and did not raise a conflict between two states' laws. None of these foreign-jurisdiction decisions applied one state's law of defamation while applying a different state's law of privilege.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT 16 MICHAEL GOGUEN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

2. Goguen's Defamation Claim Is Controlled By Montana Law, And The *Post* Has Waived Any Contrary Argument

To affirm the ruling below that "Montana law applies to all aspects of this case," this Court need go no further than ruling that *depecage* is not appropriate here. (Order at 14.) On appeal, "[t]he *Post* takes no position on which state's law controls the underlying defamation claim." (Br. at 14 n.9.) It thus waives any ability to address the choice-of-law question presented. *See Richardson v. Indem. Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 2019 MT 160, ¶ 23 n.2, 396 Mont. 325, 444 P.3d 1019 ("[W]e will not address an argument raised for the first time in a reply brief.") (citing M. R. App. P. 12(3)).

If further analysis were necessary, the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws leaves no doubt that Montana law controls. The "most significant relationship" test for "Multistate Defamation" is Section 150(2): "When a natural person claims that he has been defamed by an aggregate communication, the state of most significant relationship will usually be the state where the person was domiciled at the time, if the matter complained of was published in that state."

Goguen is domiciled in Montana and the *Post*'s Article was published and directed here. (SA-1 ¶¶ 20, 24-25.) The *Post*'s brief does not cite, much less distinguish, this test.

The more general principles of Section 145(2) of the Restatement likewise compel Montana law. "The place where the injury occurred" is Montana, where Goguen lives and works. (*Id.* ¶¶ 14, 20, 64.) "The place where the conduct causing the injury occurred" is primarily Montana, where the *Post* conducted research and publicized its attack; the Complaint does not allege any conduct that occurred in New York. (*Id.* ¶¶ 2-3, 24-25.) Goguen's "domicile" and "residence" is Montana, while the *Post*'s "place of incorporation" is Delaware and its principal "place of business" is New York. (*Id.* ¶¶ 14-16.) The relationship between the parties arises solely out of this tort that accrued in Montana. (*Id.* ¶¶ 2, 20-25, 37, 64.) Each factor favors Montana law or is neutral; none favors New York.

Restatement Section 6(2) similarly points to Montana law. Its factors emphasize the policy interests of each interested state and of the area of law. All point to applying Montana law to defamation claims brought by Montana residents in Montana for injuries suffered in Montana because "the underlying purpose of libel laws is to furnish a means of redress for defamation." *Lewis v. Reader's Digest Ass'n, Inc.*, 162 Mont. 401, 406, 512 P.2d 702, 705 (1973). The *Post* asserts that its interests as a tortfeasor outweigh its victims' interest (Br. at 17-18), but that ignores Montana policy and the policy of defamation law: "In a libel action the interest protected is that of reputation." *Lewis*, 162 Mont. at 406, 512 P.2d at 705.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT 18
MICHAEL GOGUEN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

Numerous decisions have rejected media companies' attempts to apply New York law to defamation claims by victims in other states, even where those plaintiffs sued in New York. See, e.g., Machleder v. Diaz, 801 F.2d 46, 52 (2d Cir. 1986) (applying New Jersey law, even though "the subject broadcast emanated in Manhattan, and the day-to-day professional activities of CBS are conducted in New York"); Condit v. Dunne, 317 F. Supp. 2d 344, 354 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (applying California law, even though "most of the statements emanated in New York"); La Luna Enters., Inc. v. CBS Corp., 74 F. Supp. 2d 384, 389 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (applying Florida law, even though "New York has an interest in protecting the free speech rights of publishers within its borders"); Woods Servs., Inc. v. Disability Advocates, Inc., No. CV 18-296, 2018 WL 2134016, at *5 (E.D. Pa. May 9, 2018) (applying Pennsylvania law because "defamation laws are undergirded by the state's interest in protecting the individual reputations of its citizens").

Under this Court's precedent, the choice-of-law question is singular: Which state's law controls all of the liability, privilege, and damage determinations in this defamation case? There is no doubt that the District Court was right to rule "that Montana law applies to all aspects of this case." (Order at 14.) Because the *Post* does not even address that bottom-line question, much less provide a persuasive basis to swap New York law for Montana's, this Court should affirm.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT 19 MICHAEL GOGUEN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

3. Montana's Defamation Statute Prohibits Applying A New York Privilege Statute To A Montana Defamation Claim

The text and structure of Mont. Code Ann. § 27-1-801 et seq., further confirm the ruling below. The Montana legislature created a unified statutory scheme regarding defamation and privileges. Section 27-1-802 defines libel as "a false and unprivileged publication ... that exposes any person to hatred, contempt, ridicule, or obloguy or causes a person to be shunned or avoided or that has a tendency to injure a person in the person's occupation." (Emphasis added). Section 27-1-804 goes on to define, as its title explains, "What communications are privileged." "In construing a statute the whole Act must be read together." Corwin v. Bieswanger, 126 Mont. 337, 339, 251 P.2d 252, 253 (1952). Here, the Legislature did not out-source the definition of "privilege" to other states. Instead, it defined defamation as being "unprivileged" in one section and defined what it means to be "privileged" in another. The *Post* has failed to identify any Montana decision defining whether a publication is "unprivileged" by reference to any statute outside Section 27-1-804.

4. Even If *Depecage* Were A Part Of Montana's Choice-Of-Law Analysis, Montana Law Governs Any Privilege Here

This Court has rejected arguments like the one the *Post* now makes (Br. at 16-20), which seek to elevate tortfeasors' interests in "certainty" over their victims' interest in redress.

Lewis is controlling. It concerned which state's law applies to a defamation claim stemming from an article that a New York-based publisher wrote about a Montana resident. Lewis, 162 Mont. at 402-03, 512 P.2d at 703. In selecting a "multi state publication rule," under which Montana law controlled, rather than a "single state publication rule" that called for New York law, Lewis reasoned that, because "the underlying purpose of libel laws is to furnish a means of redress for defamation" and because "generally in cases of multi-state libel, the greatest harm to a person's reputation will occur in the state of domicile," the "better rule" was "to apply the law of the plaintiff's domicile." Id. at 406-07, 512 P.2d at 704-05.

The *Post*'s invocation of "certainty and predictability," and its purported desire to avoid "a patchwork quilt of different standards" (Br. at 17-18), is upsidedown. *Goguen's* interest in predictable redress for harm to his standing in this community is paramount. After all, the *Post* has every opportunity to choose what stories to publish and can prepare itself to navigate any "patchwork" of laws to which it thereby subjects itself. Although victims of defamation can choose where they live, they have no ability to control from whence unfair, unfounded attacks may spring.

Lewis's policy rationale refutes the *Post*'s argument for invoking New York law. Lewis rejected the very same purported "chilling effect' upon the First Amendment's freedom of the press" that the *Post* now echoes. Lewis, 162 Mont. PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT 21

at 408, 512 P.2d at 706; (*See, e.g.*, Br. at 17-18.). *Lewis* saw no evidence that applying Montana law would "inhibit the zeal with which national periodicals disseminate their ideas," and recognized the need to balance "any protection given the press ... against a citizen's right to protect his reputation and good name in the community in which he resides." 162 Mont. at 408, 512 P.2d at 706. It also noted that applying Montana law "would prevent the publishing company from choosing as a place of printing a state with favorable libel laws." *Id.* at 407, 512 P.2d at 705. The *Post* should not be allowed to drape itself in purported immunity from its defamation victims in Montana (or elsewhere) merely by choosing New York for its headquarters.

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